5-29

# IN THE SUPREME COURTS STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Plaintiffs, Lawrence P. Brown and Ada L. Brown, as Personal Representatives of the Estates of Judith A. Brown and Susan A. Brown and, individually, as parents of Judith A. Brown Α. Brown, instituted this action against the and Susan Defendants, City of Pinellas Park, City of Kenneth City, and Sheriff Everett S. Rice, by ultimately filing a Second Amended Complaint for wrongful death. (R.123-141). The trial court dismissed the Second Amended Complaint with prejudice. (R.143). The Plaintiffs/Respondents, Mr. and Mrs. Brown will be referred "Mr. and Mrs. Brown." The Defendant/Petitioner, City of Pinellas Park, will be referred to as "Pinellas Park." Other Petitioners will be referred to by name. All references to the record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R." followed by the appropriate page number.

In the light most favorable to Mr. and Mrs. Brown, the Second Amended Complaint alleged that on June 24, 1984, shortly after 1:00 a.m., John Deady drove through a red light at the intersection of Pasadena Avenue and Park Street in Pasadena, Florida, and a deputy witnessed the offense and gave chase northbound past the merger of Pasadena Avenue and 66th Street. As the pursuit continued, various other deputies, Pinellas Park police officers, and Kenneth City police officers joined in the pursuit at speeds varying from 80 to 100 miles per hour. (R. 126-128).

The pursuing law enforcement officers continued after Deady north on U.S. 19 toward its intersection with State Road 584,

where the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown were waiting for the light to turn green. By that time, the pursuit allegedly had covered a distance in excess of 25 miles through a densely populated urban area on highways generally frequented by heavy vehicular traffic through more than 34 traffic control devices in disregard of the signals. In their vehicle, the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown proceeded to cross the intersection, whereupon Deady's vehicle ran the red light and broadsided their vehicle at about 90 miles per hour. Deady and both of the Browns' daughters died as the result of this collision. (R. 128,129).

Mr. and Mrs. Brown alleged that Pinellas Park was liable to them for damages resulting from the wrongful death of their daughters. Specifically, in Counts I and V of the Second Amended Complaint, the parents, as Personal Representatives of the decedents and individually as parents, asserted that:

Defendant, City of Pinellas Park through its employees Trevena and Cook negligently and carelessly engaged in a high speed pursuit in contravention of its written policy concerning vehicular pursuits and failed to terminate the pursuit once it became apparent Deady was not going to stop, thereby causing the pursuit to continue until its ultimate termination caused by the collision between the Deady and Brown vehicle. (R. 131, 134).

Similar claims were made against Kenneth City and the Sheriff in the Second Amended Complaint.

Pinellas Park moved to dismiss and the lower court granted the motion with prejudice. (R.143).

Mr. and Mrs. Brown appealed the lower court ruling to the Second District Court of Appeal. (R.148). The Second District

reversed and remanded the cause for proceedings on the merits. Brown v. City of Pinellas Park, et al., 557 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). (See Appendix, Pages 2-20). In so doing, the Second District held that Mr. and Mrs. Brown had properly pled a duty and breach thereof, to which the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity did not apply. Although recognizing that the decision to pursue was discretionary and therefore not actionable, the Second District found that failure to terminate the pursuit was operational. The Second District further ruled that proximate cause was a jury question.

The Second District certified the following question to this Court:

Is the continuation by law enforcement officers of a high speed vehicular pursuit of a traffic law violator which results in deaths of innocent bystanders an actionable breach of duty involving an operational level governmental function which is not immune from liability when it is alleged that under the circumstances the officers have known that continuing the should pursuit an unreasonably would create dangerous hazard to innocent bystanders, including those who were killed when the traffic law violator's vehicle collided with their vehicle?

Pinellas Park and the other Defendants then filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

# POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FAILS TO ALLEGE A DUTY OWED BY PINELLAS PARK TO THE DAUGHTERS OF MR. AND MRS. BROWN, NOR A BREACH OF ANY SUCH DUTY.

#### II.

THE DEATHS OF THE BROWNS' DAUGHTERS WERE PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY THE INDEPENDENT ACT OF A THIRD PARTY.

#### III.

CONTINUING POLICE PURSUIT OF A FLEEING OFFENDER IS AN IMMUNE DISCRETIONARY DECISION UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, AND NO EXCEPTION TO THE DOCTRINE IS CREATED BY PURHCASE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

To state a cause of action for negligence, the Second Amended Complaint must allege four essential elements: duty, breach of duty, proximate cause, and damages. The trial court ruled that the absence of ultimate facts alleging these elements was fatal to claims of Mr. and Mrs. Brown. Reversal of this ruling by the Second District was based upon an erroneous interpretation of the law.

The Second District's determination that a duty existed between Pinellas Park's officers and the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown was incorrectly predicated upon Kaisner v. Kolb, 543 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1989), wherein this court held that taking a motorist into custody and restricting his freedom of movement created a duty between the officer and the motorist. Here, there was no such relationship. Mr. and Mrs. Brown's daughters were members of the public at large, to whom the officers owed no duty. The officers did not take them into custody or know of their existence. The Second District also erred in its creation of a duty partially based on departmental policy rather than state law.

This second error was further compounded by determination that the Second Amended Complaint, in alleging violation of a departmental policy, properly alleged a breach of duty and proximate cause. Although alleging officers had engaged in high speed pursuit of a fleeing offender, the Second Amended Complaint failed to allege that the <u>manner</u> in which the pursuit was conducted was improper nor was there any allegation that the

<u>decision</u> to engage in and continue the pursuit caused the deaths.

Instead, actions of the fleeing offender caused the deaths.

immune discretionary the acts alleged were governmental functions per the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity. This Court and other District Courts of Appeal have held that the decision to pursue and to continue to pursue a fleeing offender is discretionary and immune from liability. The Second District attempted to distinguish other cases on the basis that the underlying facts in this case were "more egregious," but merely because the pursuit was longer and involved more officers does cause a discretionary governmental function to become not operational.

Finally, Mr. and Mrs. Brown asserted that the purchase of liability insurance by Pinellas Park constituted a waiver of sovereign immunity and created a cause of action, but regardless of waiver of sovereign immunity, the presence of insurance does not supply essential allegations to a defective negligence claim. The issue of sovereign immunity is not even reached absent a duty between the officers and the decedents.

For the above reasons, this Court should reverse the decision of the Second District, and require that judgment be entered in favor of Pinellas Park.

#### ARGUMENT

I

THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FAILS TO ALLEGE A DUTY OWED BY PINELLAS PARK TO THE DAUGHTERS OF MR. AND MRS. BROWN, NOR A BREACH OF ANY SUCH DUTY.

tort liability must be grounded upon Government underlying common law or statutory duty of care as to the alleged negligent conduct. Trianon Park Condominium Assoc., Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 468 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1985); and discretionary versus operational issues of sovereign immunity are not reached unless a duty is first established. Kaisner v. Kolb, 543 So. 2d 732, 734 (Fla. 1989). To determine whether the Second Amended Complaint stated a cause of action in negligence, the Second District had to decide whether Pinellas Park owed a duty to the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown. Pinellas Park officers joined in the pursuit of Deady, a fleeing offender, that pursuit ultimately ending in a collision between the vehicle occupied by the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown, and the vehicle operated by Deady. Based on these allegations, the Second District determined Pinellas Park owed the daughters a duty. However, the premise that police officers owe any duty to the public as a whole has been rejected by Everton v. Willard, 468 So. 2d 936 (Fla 1985).

In <u>Kaisner</u>, the facts were that a vehicle was stopped by deputies because it had an expired inspection sticker. The driver of the offending vehicle stepped outside of his vehicle and stood behind it, placing him between his vehicle and the

deputies' vehicle, whereupon some other vehicle struck the deputies' vehicle, propelling it forward, whereupon it struck the motorist who had been stopped for the violation. That motorist's complaint alleged the deputies had breached a duty of care in the procedures that were used in the stop. This Court found in <a href="Kaisner">Kaisner</a> that a duty was created to the motorist because the motorist had been directed to stop and deprived of his normal opportunity for protection. This Court stated:

Where a defendant's conduct creates a foreseeable zone of risk, the law generally will recognize a duty placed upon defendant either to lessen the risk or see that sufficient precautions are taken to protect others from the harm that the risk poses.

# id. at 735.

The obvious distinction between <u>Kaisner</u> and this case is that the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown were never taken into custody and had no contact or dealings of any kind with the police officers. The daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown were merely members of the public. No control over their movement was exercised by the Pinellas Park officers, and no foreseeable zone of risk surrounding them was created.

The duty recognized in <u>Kaisner</u> was not owed to the public as a whole, but rather was based upon the special relationship which evolved between the deputies and the motorist when the motorist was <u>stopped</u> by the deputy. In concluding that a foreseeable zone of risk was created, this Court noted:

In this case, we find that petitioner was owed a

a duty of care by the police officers when he was directed to stop and thus was deprived of his normal opportunity for protection. Under our case law, our courts have found liability or entertained suits after law enforcement officers took persons into custody, otherwise detained them, deprived them of liberty or placed them in danger (citations omitted.) ...

It is apparent that the district court took too restrictive a view of the term "custody" in this instance. Petitioner and his family unquestionably were restrained of their liberty... not free to leave the place where the officers had ordered them to stop. Petitioner effectively had lost his ability to protect himself...petitioner clearly was sufficiently restrained of liberty to be in the "custody" or control of the police. The officers owed him...a duty of care...

# Kaisner at 734 (emphasis added).

This Court noted that the facts in <u>Kaisner</u> did not present any countervailing interests, such as the safety of others. If the deputy had been confronted with an emergency requiring swift action to prevent harm to others, that emergency would have been entitled to great deference and may be of a level of urgency as to be considered discretionary. <u>Kaisner</u>, Page 738, note 3. Here, Pinellas Park officers were confronted with a fleeing offender, driving at high speed through numerous intersections. The presence of such an emergency also demonstrates that the Second District's application of <u>Kaisner</u> to the facts of this case is factually unsupportable.

The Second District attempted to distinguish this Court's decision in <u>City of Miami v. Horne</u>, 198 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1967). In <u>Horne</u>, this Court held that an officer may pursue a fleeing offender without creating liability to a third party injured by the fleeing offender. No duty is owed <u>not</u> to pursue the

offender. Rather, this Court held only the <u>manner</u> of the pursuit must be done in a non-negligent manner. Horne, P. 13.

To avoid the holding of <u>Horne</u>, the Second District seized upon the fact that in <u>Horne</u>, the Plaintiff criticized only the decision to pursue, not continuation of pursuit. The Second District further attempted a distinction by claiming the pursuit in this case was more egregious than the chase in <u>Horne</u>. Neither of these facts, however, create a duty. In initiating or discontinuing a pursuit, the police officer's thought process is the same. The length or speed of a pursuit cannot create a duty.

The unfortunate result that would apply if the Second District is correct in its position is that the more dangerous the conduct of a fleeing offender, the more probable it would be that law enforcement officers would be under an obligation to let the offender escape. In performing his or her duty for the protection of the public, the officer would be required to speculate as to why the offender is fleeing, whether the offender will stop, at what point (3 blocks, 5 miles, 10 miles, 30 miles?) the chase has proceeded so far that it is obvious the offender is not going to stop. In an age where a lawsuit lies around every corner, it is highly probable that the reaction of most officers in any case where the conduct of a fleeing offender creates a danger to the public will simply be not to pursue at all.

The Legislature in Florida has created Chapter 316 of the Florida Statutes, governing the conduct of operators of motor vehicles, and touching upon the rights of and regulation of emergency vehicles, including those in pursuit of an actual or

suspected violators of the law. Specifically, under Section 316.072 (5), Fla. Stat. (1983), a pursuing police officer in pursuit of an actual or suspected violator of the law may run red lights and stop signs, speed, and disregard regulations as to direction of movement or turning, so long as that officer takes the precautions specified by the statute to avoid dangers of impact of his or her vehicle with members of the general public, as opposed to the possibility of an impact of the fleeing offender's vehicle with a member of the general public.

This Court, in <u>City of Miami v. Horne</u>, 190 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1967), elaborated on the meaning of this Statute,, rejecting an argument that basically boiled down to a position that pursuit at high speed in urban areas was too dangerous to allow.

In this case, no allegation was made that the Pinellas Park officers drove negligently. There was an allegation that the officers violated a written departmental policy (found in Appendix, Page 1) against high speed pursuit, but failure to follow departmental policy will not establish a breach of duty. This is so because Pinellas Park's written departmental policy regarding vehicular pusuit is more restrictive than the state law set forth in Section 316.072(5), Fla. Stat. (1983), and in that situation, statewide standards control over narrower departmental orders. City of St. Petersburg v. Reed, 330 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).

As tragic as the deaths of the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Brown are (and all parties to this case surely agree that tragedy

is the appropriate word to describe the event), the fact remains that John Joseph Deady, from the time he first ran a red light on Pasadena Avenue, continued an unceasing series of violations of Chapter 316 of the Florida Statutes, risking life and limb as to everyone in his path, and the officers had a right and duty to pursue him in an attempt to apprehend him, and nothing in the way improper driving by any of the officers caused any of their vehicles to collide with the public, and to debate whether Deady would have slowed down or stopped if pursuit had stopped is an exercise in total speculation. To carry the argument of the Second District to its logical conclusion would even compel law enforcement officers to debate whether they should attempt to set up vehicles with flashing lights at intersections lying in Deady's path, since on the one hand, that might alert members of the general public to the dangers of an approaching Deady, but at the same time cause Deady to continue fleeing with even greater energy as he happened upon a series of emergency vehicles with flashing lights, or perhaps cause Deady to violently alter his course to the left or the right, with attendant possibilities of disaster for members of the public in his path on those avenues of escape.

If a law is to be created to give the most dangerous fleeing offenders a permit to disregard the provisions of Chapter 316 of the Florida Statutes with immunity, and to further restrict the rights of pursuing officers than is the current situation under Section 316.072(5), Fla. Stat. (1983), the author of these changes should be the Legislature as opposed to the Appellate

Court system. It is the good of the public as a whole, not merely the good of unfortunate particular members of the public who find themselves in the path of a fleeing offender, that must be addressed in the issue of creation of and enforcement of a motor vehicle code.

#### ARGUMENT

II

THE DEATHS OF THE BROWNS' DAUGHTERS WERE PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY THE INDEPENDENT ACT OF A THIRD PARTY.

The Second District Court of Appeal held that the actions of Deady were foreseeable. Although a tortfeasor is responsible for the foreseeable results of his actions, this Court has held that officer engaged in pursuit is not responsible for acts committed by the offender in his attempt to escape. City of Miami v. Horne, 198 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1967), even though the very act of pursuit may contribute to reckless driving on the part of the pursued. Deady admittedly drove recklessly while being The District Court of Appeal has held that if Pinellas pursued. Park's officers hadn't pursued Deady, he wouldn't have been driving recklessly, that the reckless driving was forseeable, and thus the officers are liable. This Court in Horne (and courts in majority of other jurisdictions) disagree. The Fifth the District followed Horne in Rhodes v. Lamar, 490 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

Based upon the facts virtually identical to those alleged in the Second Amended Complaint, the Fifth District found:

Appellant does not question the right of the deputies to appehend Grosse; only that they were negligent in attempting to apprehend him through high speed pursuit on busy streets... There is no allegation nor showing here that the injury to appellant was proximately caused or contributed to by the negligent acts of the deputies in the operation of their motor vehicles.

In disagreement totally or partially with <u>Rhodes</u> are other Fifth District cases. <u>Miller v. Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles</u>, 548 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); <u>Putnam v. Eaton Construction Co.</u>, 535 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); <u>Sintros v. LaValle</u>, 406 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). To the extent these Fifth District cases conflict with <u>Horne's</u> pronouncement that the pursuing officer is not responsible for the reckless driving of the pursued, even though that reckless driving may be (as the Fifth District said in <u>Putnam</u>) the most likely result of a high-speed pursuit, they should be rejected.

The large majority of cases (including <u>Horne</u>) addressing the issue of whether an officer is responsible for a collision between the pursued and an innocent party have held against liability. In most cases, the courts have reasoned that the sole proximate cause of the accident is the reckless driving of the offender. Texas recently confronted the identical issue, in <u>Dent v. City of Dallas</u>, 729 S.W. 2d 114 (Tex. App.-Dallas 1986). The court on Pages 116 and 117 of the opinion, collected the cases on this issue, and held squarely that the fleeing offender is the sole proximate cause of his accident with the innocent victim:

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