#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITY OF PINELLAS PARK, a municipal corporation; CITY OF KENNETH CITY, a municipal corporation; and EVERETT S. RICE, as Sheriff of Pinellas County, Florida,

Petitioners,

vs.

LAWRENCE P. BROWN and ADA L. BROWN, as personal representatives of the estates of Judith A. Brown, deceased, and Susan A. Brown, deceased, and on behalf of survivors, Lawrence P. Brown and Ada L. Brown, individually, and as parents of Judith A. Brown, deceased, and Susan A. Brown, deceased,

Respondents.

JUN 1 1990

Case Nos. 75,721

75,722 75,726

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

**RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

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

In neither <u>Everton</u> nor <u>Kaisner</u> did this Court purport to revive the <u>Modlin</u> test with respect to law enforcement activities, or otherwise seek to qualify the legislative mandate that a government agency answer for its negligence under circumstances in which a private person would be liable. Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. To the contrary, both cases were fully consistent with that mandate.

For example, the holding in <u>Everton</u> was in accord with the principle that no one is duty-bound to protect another from the negligence or criminal acts of a third person except under special circumstances. Restatement (Second) of Torts s.314; <u>W.</u> Prosser The Law of Torts, s.33, pp. 170, 174-176 (4th Ed. 1971).

Among the special relationships that give rise to a duty of protection is that between a custodian and the person in his custody. Restatement ss.314A, 320; <u>White v. Palm Beach County</u>, 404 So.2d 123 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). In <u>Kaisner</u> the Court found that the circumstances of that case satisfied the pertinent elements of "custody" in this context; therefore, the deputies owed the plaintiffs a duty to protect them from harm.

Nowhere did the Court suggest that a duty of care would be recognized <u>only</u> in those circumstances. Nor did the Court hold

that duties of care which might otherwise arise in the case of private individuals do not apply to law enforcement officers unless they are in some sort of "special relationship" with the plaintiff. To the contrary, <u>Kaisner</u> emphasized the very opposite:

Where a defendant's conduct creates a foreseeable zone of risk, the law generally will recognize a duty placed upon defendant either to lessen the risk or see that sufficient precautions are taken to protect others from the harm that the risk poses. <u>See Stevens v. Jefferson</u>, 436 So.2d 33, 35 (Fla.1983)(citing <u>Crislip v. Holland</u>, 401 So.2d 1115, 1117 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review denied sub nom</u>. <u>City of Fort Pierce</u> <u>v. Crislip</u>, 411 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1981)0.

We see no reason why the same analysis should not obtain in a case in which the zone of risk is created by the police. ...

Kaisner, 543 So.2d at 735-736.

Some activities create sufficiently wide zones of sufficiently serious risk as to impose upon the actor a duty of care in favor of the public at large. Among these activities is the operation of a motor vehicle on the public highways. <u>See</u>, <u>Vining</u> <u>v. Avis Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc.</u>, 354 So.2d 54 (Fla. 1977); <u>Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Timmons</u>, 36 So.2d 430, 431 (Fla. 1948)(operator of truck owed duty of care for safety of life and property "either directly or remotely involved in the operation"); <u>Jackson v. Reardon</u>, 392 So.2d 965, 957 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)(motorist has duty of care to prevent injury "to persons and property within the vehicle's path").

The petitioners point out that under section 316.072(5), Florida Statutes, an authorized emergency vehicle in pursuit of

an actual or suspected violator of the law is excused from compliance with a number of traffic laws.

But the privileges granted under that statute are qualified. Thus, the driver of an emergency vehicle is permitted to proceed through a red traffic light, "but only after slowing down as may be necessary for safe operation[.]" He may exceed the maximum speed limits "so long as he does not endanger life or property." He may disregard regulations governing direction or movement "so long as he does not endanger life or property." Section 316.072(5)(b)2-4, Florida Statutes. Moreover, the subsection concludes with the admonition that

[t]he foregoing provisions shall not relieve the driver of a vehicle specified in paragraph (a) from the duty to drive with due regard for the safety of all persons, nor shall such provisions protect the driver from the consequences of his reckless disregard for the safety of others.

Section 316.072(5)(c), Florida Statutes.

Clearly, when relieving the police of their obligations to observe traffic regulations while in pursuit of lawbreakers, the legislature did not license them to careen about the community with no thought to the danger their actions posed to others.

Indeed, vis-a-vis his civil liability, the actor's duty is not merely to obey the law; it is to use due care to avoid exposing others to unreasonable risks. Thus, whereas the violation of a law or regulation may give rise to a presumption of negligence, or even constitute negligence <u>per se</u>, the fact that the actor's conduct did not violate regulations does not absolve him of liability if a reasonable man would have taken greater

care. Restatement s.288; <u>Prosser</u>, s.36, p.203. <u>See Bowes v.</u> Lerner Shops International, Inc. 422 So.2d 1041 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

A number of courts in other jurisdictions, construing emergency vehicle statutes similar or identical to section 316.072(5), have concluded that the enactments were intended to shield drivers of emergency vehicles from findings of negligence based solely on violations of traffic laws, but not from findings of negligence under common law principles. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Tetro v. Town of Stratford</u>, 189 Conn. 601, 458 A.2d 5 (Conn. 1983); <u>Fiser v. City</u> <u>of Ann Arbor</u>, 417 Mich. 461, 339 N.W.2d 413 (Mich. 1983); <u>Mason</u> <u>v. Bitton</u>, 85 Wash. 321, 534 P.2d 1360 (Wash. 1975).

This notion may well account for the Court's failure to mention the then-existing emergency vehicle statutes when deciding <u>City of Miami v. Horne</u>, 198 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1967).<u>1</u>/ Rather, the Court decided the case under common law principles, finding that a police officer engaged in pursuit must "not exceed proper

In his brief petitioner Rice suggests that in <u>Horne</u> this Court "elaborated on the meaning of" section 316.072(5). Manifestly, that opinion made no reference whatever to the current statute or its predecessors.

<sup>1/</sup> When Horne was decided, provisions that were materially identical to section 316.072(5) were contained in section 317.041(5), Florida Statutes, applicable to highways. The Model Traffic Ordinance for Municipalities, Ch. 186, excused drivers of emergency vehicles from the posted speed limits when responding to an emergency call, with the proviso that "[t]his provision shall not relieve the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle from the duty to drive with due regard to the safety of all persons using the street, nor shall it protect the driver of any such vehicle from the consequences of a reckless disregard for the safety of others." Section 186.80, Florida Statutes (1967).

and rational bounds nor act in a negligent, careless or wanton manner." Horne, 198 So.2d at 13.

As will be discussed, the meaning of that language is not altogether clear. But one thing is certain: whatever may have been the nature of the duty recognized in <u>Horne</u>, the Court did not hold that it was owed only to those with whom the officer had a "special relationship."

Neither does the proviso set forth in section 316.072(5)(c) contain any such limitation. To the contrary, that paragraph expressly preserves an officer's duty to maintain "due regard for the safety of all persons[.]" (Emphasis added.)

In <u>Kaisner</u> this Court wrote of a defendant's duty of care to those within a "foreseeable zone of risk." As the petitioners' officers roared <u>en masse</u> along a busy, urban street in the early hours of June 24, 1984, that zone surely included the intersection into which the Browns' daughters innocently ventured.

Thus, under <u>Kaisner</u>, the petitioners had a duty to the young women to either lessen the risk or see that sufficient precautions were taken to protect them from the harm the risk posed. <u>Kaisner</u>, 543 So.2d at 735-736. It was on this basis that the district court found that Sheriff's Corporal Rusher, who sat in his patrol car next to the Browns' daughters as the chase caravan approached the intersection, had a duty to warn them of the danger he knew to be coming.

The Sheriff argues here that the district court was mistaken in this regard because (1) the women were not in Rusher's custody

or under his direction, and therefore were not owed a "special duty"; (2) Rusher was not part of the pursuit; and (3) the officers' negligence did not create the danger.

The last assertion rests on a proximate cause determination, an issue that will be discussed, infra.

As for the first argument noted, under <u>Kaisner</u> an officer's duty to take reasonable steps to lessen the risk of harm to others is not limited to those with whom he has a special relationship. Rather, the duty is owed to all who may venture into the foreseeable zone of risk. Surely, this included the Browns' daughters who were sitting in their car in the lane next to Rusher's vehicle, obviously intending to drive into the path of the oncoming chase.

The Sheriff's claim that Rusher owed no duty because he had not joined the pursuit, as did the concurring opinion below, depends on a technical definition of "pursuit". But, as the majority below pointed out, certainly Rusher had already joined the effort to apprehend the pursued vehicle:

Allegations that Corporal Rusher was, while next to plaintiffs' decedents at the intersection, waiting for Deady to pass and that he then pulled out onto U.S. 19 to get behind Deady when Deady was expected to pass manifestly indicate that he was in communication and coordination with the other officers. Thus, the second amended complaint sufficiently alleges that he was, although ahead of the fleeing lawbreaker, already effectively a part of the pursuit. He was involved in the effort to stop Deady in the same sense as would be an officer setting up a roadblock to intercept a pursued lawbreaker or an officer speeding ahead of a pursued lawbreaker on another route to intercept or get closer to To say that because Corporal Rusher had not yet achim. tively engaged in the pursuit from behind he was not legally accountable for its consequences would, we conclude, relieve him of a responsibility which was properly his if the al-

legations are proved. His location ahead of Deady was the only place from which he could, from the information he had as a part of the pursuit, have prevented those consequences. DCA Opinion at 10-11.

B. The nature of the petitioners' duty.

Petitioners argue, without analytical support, that under <u>Horne</u> and section 316.072(5) their officers' only duty was to avoid driving their own vehicles negligently, and that they cannot be held responsible for the pursued driver's actions.

That certainly is not the rule applicable to private individuals, as contemplated by section 768.28. Indeed, "[a] negligent act or omission may be one which involves an unreasonable risk of harm to another through either (a) the continuous operation of a force started or continued by the act or omission, or (b) the foreseeable action of another, a third person, animal, or a force of nature." Restatement s.302. This includes the negligent, reckless, or even criminal act of a third person. Id. ss. 302A, 302B. See e.g., Vining, supra; Angell v. F. Avanzini Lumber Co., 363 So.2d 571 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978). See also, Downs v. United States, 522 F.2d 990, 998-999 (6th Cir. 1975)(applying Florida law, court held that FBI agent's negligent mishandling of hijacking caused deaths of plaintiffs' decedents when hijacker reacted violently).

<u>Horne</u> did not state a contrary rule with respect to law enforcement officers, although it did observe that police officers' conduct should be judged in light of their duties.

Rather, <u>Horne</u> merely held that an officer would not be responsible for the acts of the pursued driver so long as the officer did not exceed proper and rational bounds or act in a negligent, careless or wanton manner.

Moreover, as the district court of appeal observed, <u>Horne</u> cited <u>Town of Mount Dora v. Bryant</u>, 128 So.2d 4 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). That case directed a jury trial of a claim arising from a police chase that resulted in a collision between the pursued vehicle and an innocent bystander.2/

Nor does section 316.072(5), by its terms, create the special rule petitioners advocate. Indeed, foreign courts construing like or identical statutes have rejected petitioners' view. For example, in <u>Mason</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Washington Supreme Court construed an emergency vehicle statute that was identical to Florida's section 316.072(5):

The defendants admit that enforcement officers have a duty to act with due regard for the safety of others, yet they contend that this duty, as set forth in RCW 46.61.035 and the above policy statements, is quite limited and can be violated only in instances where the police vehicle itself is involved in an accident. We find no merit to this argument.

Whenever a duty is imposed by statutory enactment, a question of law arises as to which class of persons is intended to come within the protection provided by the statute [citation omitted] The statutory construction urged by the defendants would imposed only have a duty and would

<sup>2/</sup> See also Miller v. Department of Highway Safety, 548 So.2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Putnam v. Eaton Construction Co., 535 So.2d 615 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); Sintros v. Lavalle, 406 So.2d 483 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Reed v. City of Winter Park, 253 So.2d 475 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971); Evanoff v. City of St. Petersburg, 186 So.2d 68 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). Contra, Rhodes v. Lamar, 490 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).



disregard the intended purpose underlying the statute; i.e., to provide for the safety of all persons and property from all consequences resulting from negligent behavior of the enforcement officers. The safety of those individuals within the intended class of persons protected by RCW 46.61.035, can be jeopardized just as much by the negligence of the pursuer as it can by the negligence of the party being pursued. The defendants' own policy statements recognize that at times it would be more prudent to cease a pursuit in order to protect the public. This clearly evidences that the defendants are aware that innocent third parties may be injured by the individual being pursued, and that it is their responsibility to determine whether the purpose of the pursuit warrants this risk. It is the duty of this Court "to construe legislation so as to make it purposeful and effective." [citations omitted] This mandates a statutory construction which does not limit the scope of RCW 46.61.035 to situations where only the police vehicle is directly involved in the accident.

<u>Mason</u>, 534 P.2d at 1363 (emphasis by the court). <u>See also</u>, <u>Fiser</u> <u>v. City of Ann Arbor</u>, 417 Mich. 461, 339 N.W.2d 413 (Mich. 1983); <u>Tetro v. Town of Stratford</u>, 189 Conn. 601, 458 A.2d 5 (Conn. 1983); <u>Kuzmics v. Santiago</u>, 389 A.2d 587 (Pa.Super. 1978).

#### C. The applicable standard of conduct.

In <u>Horne</u> the Court did not articulate what it meant by the observation that an officer chasing a suspect must "not exceed proper and rational bounds". But the phrase certainly implies a limitation or parameter established according to an assessment of what is reasonable under the circumstances.3/

(continued...)

<sup>3/</sup> Among the definitions of "proper" set forth in Webster's Third New International Dictionary are "1: marked by suitability, fitness, accord, compatibility: as a: naturally suiting, complying with, or relevant to [...] b: sanctioned as according with equity, justice, ethics, or rationale [...] c: socially appropriate : according with established traditions and feelings of rightness and appropriateness [...] d: acceptable as being qualified or competent : marked by adequate qualification, knowledge, or standards [...] e: adequate to the purpose [...]."

Section 316.072(5)(c), Florida Statutes, refers to the consequences of an officer's "reckless disregard for the safety of others." Conduct is in reckless disregard for the safety of others if the actor

does an act or intentionally fails to do an act which it is his duty to the other to do, knowing or having reason to know of facts which would lead a reasonable man to realize, not only that his conduct creates an unreasonable risk of physical harm to another, but also that such risk is substantially greater than that which is necessary to make his conduct negligent.

Restatement s.500.

Recklessness differs from intentional misconduct in that, though the reckless actor intends his act, he does not intend to the cause the harm which results from it. "It is enough that he realizes or, from facts which he knows, should realize that there is a strong probability that harm may result, even though he hopes or even expects that his conduct will prove harmless." <u>Id.</u>, comment f.

The Restatement contrasts recklessness and negligence as

follows:

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